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APPENDIX 4E 
Company details 

Name of entity IPD GROUP LIMITED 
ACN 111 178 351 

Current reporting period Year ended 30 June 2022 

Previous corresponding reporting period Year ended 30 June 2021 
 
Additional disclosure requirements and supporting information for the Appendix 4E are contained within IPD Group Limited’s  
Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2022. This Appendix should be read in conjunction with the full report. 
 
This announcement was approved by the Board of Directors for release on 30 August 2022. 
 
Results for announcement to market 
 Movement 

 
 

% 

Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

 
$million 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

 
$million 

Revenue from ordinary activities up 49.7% to 176.8 118.1 

EBITDA before IPO costs1 up 60.3% to 21.8 13.6 

Depreciation and Amortisation    (3.6) (4.0) 

EBIT before IPO costs1 up 89.6% to 18.2 9.6 

Net interest costs    (0.5) (0.6) 

Profit before tax and IPO costs1 up 96.7% to 17.7 9.0 

Income Tax    (5.3) (2.5) 

NPAT from ordinary activities, before IPO costs net of 
tax1 up 89.2% to 12.3 6.5 

      
IPO costs net of tax    (1.2) - 

NPAT from ordinary activities after IPO costs 
attributable to owners of IPD Group Limited  up 70.8% to 11.1 6.5 

      
Earnings per share (cents per share) before IPO 
costs up 54.4% to 15.9 10.3 

Earnings per share (cents per share) after IPO costs  up 38.8% to 14.3 10.3 
 
IPD Group Ltd recorded a statutory after-tax profit of $11,115,000 (2021: $6,508,000). 
 
On 30 August 2022, the Directors declared a final dividend of 3.7 cents per share fully franked with an ex-dividend date of 19 
September 2022, record date of 20 September 2022 and payable on 03 October 2022. 
 
On 6 August 2021, the IPD Group paid the 2021 financial year end dividend of $1,782,000 which was equivalent to 2.3 cents 
per share fully franked. On 3 December 2021, the Group paid a special pre-IPO dividend of $7,526,000 equivalent to 11.4 
cents per share fully franked. 2  
 
Further information on the ‘Review of operations’ is detailed in the Directors’ report which is part of the Financial Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2022.  
 
1 Profit before IPO costs is a non-IFRS measure reported to provide a greater understanding of business performance. EBITDA, EBIT and Profit before tax all before IPO costs 
have been arrived at by adding back IPO related costs totalling $1,593,000. NPAT from ordinary activities, before IPO costs net of tax have been arrived at by adding back IPO 
related costs after tax totalling $1,224,000. 
2 The cents per share from the dividends paid during the year ended 30 June 2022 have been recalculated to reflect the proportion of shares post share split.  
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Net Tangible Assets 
 
 30 June 2022 

$ 
30 June 2021 

$ 

Net tangible assets per share (cents per share)  51.1 48.8 

Diluted net tangible assets per share (cents per share)  51.0 48.2 
 
 
Control gained over entities 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2022, IPD Group acquired 100% interest of High Technology Control Pty Ltd (HTC) and 
resulted in IPD Group Ltd obtaining control of High Technology Control Pty Ltd on 1 October 2021. 

On 4th April 2022 IPD Group also acquired the assets of Gemtek Group Pty Ltd. The assets of Gemtek Group Pty Ltd consist 
of the business name, intellectual property, contracts for supply to customers, records and employees. 
  



Directors’
Report
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The Directors present their report in compliance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 on the consolidated entity 
(referred to hereafter as the “Group") consisting of IPD Group Ltd (“IPD Group” or the “Company”) and the entities it controlled 
at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2022. 
 

DIRECTORS 

Directors of IPD Group Ltd during and since the end of financial year unless otherwise stated below are: 

David Rafter – Independent non-executive Chairman 

Andrew Moffat – Independent non-executive Director  

Michael Sainsbury – Executive Director 

Mohamed Yoosuff – Executive Director 

 
COMPANY SECRETARY 

Mohamed Yoosuff (resigned 5 October 2021) 

Alistair McKeough (appointed 5 October 2021, resigned 18 May 2022)  

Euh (David) Wang and Michael Austin (joint secretaries appointed 18 May 2022, Euh (David) Wang resigned 19 August 2022)  

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board of Directors and management of IPD Group recognise the importance of, and are committed to, achieving high 
corporate governance standards. Our key Corporate Governance materials including policies, code of conduct and Board and 
Board Committee Charters, can be found in the Corporate Governance section of our website within the Investor Relation 
section. 

In accordance with the 4th edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations, the 
Company’s Corporate Governance Statement, as approved by the Board, is published and available on the IPD Group website 
at https://ipdgroup.com.au/investors/corporate-governance/ 

 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The Group is a national distributor and service provider to the Australian electrical market. The Group consists of two core 
divisions: 

 the distribution of products for quality global electrical infrastructure brands such as ABB, Elsteel, Emerson & Red 
Lion; and 

 the provision of services, including installation and commissioning, calibration and testing, maintenance and repairs 
and refurbishment 

 
Products division: 
The Group’s core focus in the products division is the sale of electrical infrastructure products to customers including 
switchboard manufacturers, electrical wholesalers, electrical contractors, power utilities, OEMs and system integrators. 
Within the division there are five key categories of products: 

 Power distribution; 
 Industrial and motor control; 
 Automation and industrial communication; 
 Power monitoring; and  
 Electric vehicle solutions 

 
In addition to selling products, the Group provides a range of value-added services, including custom assembly, sourcing, 
engineering design, technical compliance, procurement, transport, storage, regulatory management, technical support, 
packaging, labelling, inventory management and delivery. 
 
Services division: 
Within the Group’s services division there are four categories of services: 

 Installation and commissioning;  
 Calibration and testing; 
 Maintenance and repairs; and 
 Refurbishment and other. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Proforma results summary 

 

FY22  
pro forma1 

$million 

FY21  
pro forma2 

$million 
Change 

% 

Prospectus 
FY22  

pro forma1 
forecast 
$ million 

Change 
% 

      
Revenue from ordinary activities 180.5 142.6 26.6% 169.6 6.4% 

Gross profit 68.6 54.7 25.4% 61.8 11.0% 
        

Other income 0.8 0.6 33.3% 0.3 166.7% 

Operating Expenses  (47.3) (39.3) 20.4% (44.0) 7.5% 

        

EBITDA 22.1 16.0 38.1% 18.1 22.1% 
        

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (3.6) (4.0) -10.0% (3.6) 0.0% 

EBIT 18.5 12.0 54.2% 14.5 27.6% 
        
Interest  (0.5) (0.6) -16.7% (0.5) 0.0% 

Profit before income tax  18.0 11.4 57.9% 14.0 28.6% 
      
Income tax expense  (5.4) (3.5) 54.3% (4.3) 25.6% 

NPAT 12.6 7.9 59.5% 9.7 29.9% 
1 FY22 pro forma results excludes IPO related expenses, includes three months of HTC prior to acquisition, five months of costs as a listed company and excludes HTC acquisition 
related expenses. 

2 FY21 pro forma results include twelve months of HTC and three months of Control logic prior to acquisition, twelve months of costs as a listed company and excludes Control 
Logic acquisition related expenses. 

 

Proforma NPAT bridge entries 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

NPAT Statutory   11.1 6.5 

IPO listing costs 1.6 - 

Less tax effect of IPO listing costs (0.4) - 

Public company costs after tax (0.1) - 

Impact of acquisitions after tax 0.4 - 

Pro forma NPAT from ordinary activities 12.6 6.5 
 

Underlying NPAT bridge entries 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

NPAT Statutory   11.1 6.5 

IPO listing costs 1.6 - 

Less tax effect of IPO listing costs (0.4) - 

NPAT from ordinary activities, before IPO costs net of tax 12.3 6.5 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (CONT’D) 

The IPD Group Limited (“IPD”) Board of Directors are pleased to advise of a record performance for the year ended 30 June 
2022 (“FY22”), its inaugural annual result as a publicly listed company since its listing on 17 December 2021. 
 
Sales revenue of $176.8 million was up 49.7% on the prior corresponding period, despite the effect of the lockdown in some 
states as well as global supply chain issues. This growth reflects the strength of the Group’s operating model, successful 
integration of earnings accretive acquisitions and expanded product portfolios and ranges. Revenue growth of IPD’s two core 
divisions was driven by: 

Products division – revenue growth of 55.3%. This significant growth during the financial year ended 30 June 2022 was 
generated from: 

 Expanded distribution agreement with ABB to take responsibility as a distributor for ABB’s power distribution range up to 
and including 1000v, as well as ABB’s AC range of electric vehicle chargers effective 1st September 2021. The Group 
executed a successful transition of the additional product range and customers from ABB and have already started 
receiving and dispatching orders for the ABB range of electric vehicle chargers. 

 On 1st October 2021 IPD acquired 100% interest of High Technology Control Pty Ltd (HTC). HTC distribute similar 
products to IPD and specialises in the sale of motor control solutions. The acquisition of HTC extended IPD’s power 
control and energy management offering into the heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems (HVAC) markets in 
commercial and industrial applications. 

 Excluding the new ABB distribution agreement, the Group achieved strong organic grow with the pre-existing ABB 
product range, capitalising on the new Idec distribution agreement signed last financial year and driving synergies across 
the group from the acquisition of Control Logic, HTC and Gemtek. 

Services division – revenue growth of 12.9%: Service revenue from 1 July 2021 to 30 September 2021 was disrupted by 
the government mandated COVID-19 lockdowns; however, operations continued as IPD were considered an essential 
service provider of low and high voltage electrical services. Certain projects were delayed but completed during the 
remaining months of FY22. Although revenue was disrupted by the government mandated COVID-19 lockdowns, the 
services division was eligible for the Government JobKeeper Payment scheme, resulting in $412,000 of Government 
subsidies received during the financial year. 

On 4th April 2022 IPD Group also acquired the assets of Gemtek Group Pty Ltd. Gemtek is a turn-key energy management 
and EV solutions provider, with over 15 years of design, project management and infrastructure maintenance experience. 
Based in Perth, Gemtek’s partners and customers include Development WA, Public Transport Authority of Western Australia 
(PTA), Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA) members and the major utility providers to WA. The 
Group is now able to provide a complete, end-to-end solution to EV charger customers including design, hardware, electrical 
infrastructure, installation, network management and maintenance solutions. The Group is now one of a limited number of 
organisations that can provide this full suite of services in Australia. 

 
Along with operating costs being well managed, management responded well to the ever-changing conditions related to 
COVID-19 to deliver an EBIT margin, before IPO costs, of 10.3% (FY21: 8.1%). Employee benefits expense increased with 
the acquisitions of HTC, Gemtek and additional personnel to support the expanded distribution agreement with ABB and other 
areas of the business to support the revenue growth. Other specific costs related to revenue such as freight and delivery 
expenses increased in line with revenue growth. During the year, the Group increased its investment into the Company’s IT 
infrastructure with a number of hardware and system upgrades, integration projects and innovative cyber security strategies, 
some of which are one off expenses.  
 
In the first half of FY22 the Group raised $20.0 million of growth capital through a successful listing on the ASX. As at 30 June 
2022, the Group has a net cash balance of $25.4 million on its balance sheet. Operating cashflows were $11.2 million for the 
year, with an operating cashflow conversion of 90.7% against underlying NPAT as the Group invests into working capital to 
support the revenue growth and invests into inventory to reduce risks associated with supply chain issues.  
 
As at 30 June 2022, the Group has $32.9 million of inventory on its balance sheet, $63.4 million of net assets, no borrowings 
and is well capitalised to execute on its strategic initiatives, as listed in the IPD Group’s November 2021 prospectus. 
 
The Group has consistently traded positively through COVID-19 with minimal disruption to the Products Division. Careful 
measures have been put into place at all sites for the safety of all staff and full compliance with government requirements. In 
FY22 warehouse and manufacturing staff were allocated into split rotating shifts as an initiative to protect staff as well as the 
continuity of the business.  
 
IPD operations in Colombo have continued unaffected by the recent unstable political and economic environment in Sri 
Lanka. IPD’s Sri Lankan support office staff have been working almost entirely from home since the start of the COVID-19 
pandemic. This flexible working arrangement and temporary support packages provided to employees have enabled the 
business to continue as usual. 

In October 2021, before the start of the Sri Lankan economic crisis, IPD Group commenced business process outsourcing in 
the Philippines. This will remain an ongoing strategy to provide support to the Group and reduce the impact of any risk 
associated with the Sri Lankan back-office operations. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (CONT’D) 

The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic are continuing to be felt around the world and its impact on the Group, if any, 
has been reflected in its published results to date. Whilst it would appear that control measures and related government 
policies have started to mitigate the risks caused by COVID-19, it is not possible at this time to state that the pandemic will 
not subsequently impact the Group's operations going forward. The Group now has experience in the swift implementation of 
business continuation processes should future lockdowns of the population occur, and these processes continue to evolve to 
minimise any operational disruption. Management continues to monitor the situation both locally and internationally. 

Outlook 

Expanding on the Gemtek acquisition, IPD intends to continue investment in this high growth market opportunity and 
increase its electric vehicle solution capabilities. IPD has recently employed a General Manager, David Sullivan, to lead IPD’s 
dedicated EV business unit. David has joined IPD from his most recent role as the Head of ABB’s Electrification Business for 
Australia, where he spent time in Europe and Australia covering Utility Resources, Data Centres, and Transport Sectors. 
David is an executive and General Manager with over 25 years of experience in management and sales and marketing 
positions across the electrical supply industry. 

IPD’s core business continues to perform well in a buoyant market. It is too early in the new financial year to provide a full 
year outlook given the ongoing impact of supply chain disruptions and global trade uncertainty. The Board will provide an 
update on Q1 trading performance at the IPD Group Limited AGM on November 10th 2022. 

Management and the Board will continue to evaluate strategic acquisitions and focus on the Group’s core growth strategy as 
defined in the IPD Group’s November 2021 prospectus. 

 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, 
positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by 
the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel 
restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided.  

Except for the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Group in future financial years. 

 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

Director’s Meetings Board Meetings Audit & Risk Committee 
Nomination & 

Remuneration Committee 
 Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended 
Mohamed Yoosuff 12 12 - - - - 

Michael Sainsbury 12 12 - - - - 

David Rafter 12 12 2 2 2 2 

Andrew Moffat 12 12 2 2 2 2 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

 

Directors  Relevant interest 
in Shares 

David Rafter 
Independent, Non-Executive 
Chairman 
Master of Business Administration - 
Charles Sturt University 
Master of Design Science (Facilities 
Management) – University of Sydney 
 

David is currently the CEO at Web FM, a global provider of 
construction and facilities management consulting and software 
solutions. 

Major roles across David’s 30-year building services career 
include the CEO of O’Donnell Griffin, a $600 million electrical 
engineering/contracting business and CEO of Haden Engineering 
a $300 million HVAC construction and service company, both part 
of the ASX-listed Norfolk Group via an IPO in 2007. 

Previously, David was an Executive General Manager at 
Transfield Services, an ASX-listed operations, maintenance and 
construction services business. 

David was appointed as a Director on 14 August 2019 and is a 
member of the AICD 

David is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

David is chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee 

145,834 

Andrew Moffat 
Independent, Non-Executive Director 
Bachelor of Business - Curtin University 

Andrew has 23 years’ of corporate and investment banking 
experience, including serving as a director of Equity Capital 
markets and Advisory for BNP Paribas Equities. 

Currently a Non-Executive Director of Sports Entertainment 
Group Limited, 360 Capital Group Limited, ICP Funding Pty 
Limited and CASL Funder Pty Ltd. 

Past public company directorships include Rubik Financial 
Limited, Keybridge Capital Limited, CCK Financial Solutions 
Limited, itX Group Limited and Infomedia Limited. 

Andrew was appointed as a Director on 24 March 2020. 

Andrew is chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 

Andrew is a member of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee 

833,022 

Michael Sainsbury 
Executive Director & CEO 
Advanced Diploma Business 
Management – Leadership 
Management Australia 

Michael has over 25 years’ experience in sales, business 
development and management within the electrical industry; he 
joined IPD in 2013 as the National Sales Manager and has been 
CEO since 2015. 

Prior to IPD, Michael spent over 13 years working at Schneider 
Electric where he held various senior management roles in the 
electrical solutions and power monitoring space.  

1,208,257 

Mohamed Yoosuff 
Executive Director & CFO 
Associate of Chartered institute of 
Management Accountants (ACMA) 

Mohamed Yoosuff has been an employee and board member of 
IPD since 2005. 
Mohamed has held various roles within IPD and has been the 
CFO since inception. 
Previously held various senior management positions in 
manufacturing and distribution companies, including as CFO of 
Ludowici Group (a manufacturing and distribution business 
previously listed on ASX) and as Financial Controller of Otis 
Elevators. 

11,221,666 
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AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT 

The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the consolidated entity, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 
 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 

 
Directors’ interests and remuneration  

Non-Executive Director remuneration 

Under the Constitution, the Board may decide the total amount paid by the Company to each Director as remuneration for 
their services as a Director. However, under the Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules, the total amount of fees paid to all 
Non-Executive Directors in any financial year must not exceed the aggregate amount of Non-Executive Directors fees 
approved by Shareholders at the Company’s general meeting. This amount has been fixed by the Company at $400,000 per 
annum. 

Prior to Listing, each Non-Executive Director was entitled to an annual base fee of $60,000. From Listing, the annual Non-
Executive Directors’ base fee agreed to be paid by the Company to: 
• the Chairman, David Rafter is $110,000; and 
• the Non-Executive Director, Andrew Moffat is $70,000. 

From listing, Non-Executive Directors are also to be paid Committee fees of $8,000 per year for each Board Committee of 
which they are a Chair and a Committee fee of $2,000 for each Board Committee of which they are a non-Chair member.  

All Non-Executive Directors’ fees are inclusive of statutory superannuation contributions. 
 

Non-Executive Director payments in connection with listing 

As part of the Non-Executive Directors’ initial remuneration, IPD agreed to issue free bonus Shares to match, on a do llar for 
dollar basis up to $75,000 for the Non-Executive Chairman and the Non-Executive Director, the number of Shares issued to 
those Non-Executive Directors under the Offer. 

Both the Non-Executive Directors acquired at least $75,000 of shares under the offer and were issued free bonus shares to 
the value of : 
David Rafter – $75,000; and 
Andrew Moffat – $75,000. 
 

Executive Director remuneration 

IPD has established a number of incentive arrangements to enable attraction, motivation and retention of management and 
employees.   

The remuneration structure for executives of the Company is a mix of fixed remuneration and at-risk, performance -based 
remuneration to ensure a focus on both short-term and long-term performance, and alignment with shareholder interests.  
This approach is designed to attract, retain and reward executives to deliver sustainable returns for shareholders.  

Key terms of employment contracts 

Chief Executive Officer 
Details regarding the terms of employment of the CEO and Executive Director, Michael Sainsbury are set out below: 

Term Description 

Remuneration 
and other 
benefits 

Effective from 1 July 2021, Michael Sainsbury is entitled to receive a base salary of $412,000 
(exclusive of superannuation). Michael is also entitled to use of a motor vehicle, laptop and mobile 
phone provided by the Company.  

Short Term 
Incentives 

For FY22, Michael was eligible for and achieved a cash bonus under IPD’s STI.  The STI can 
range from 0% to 50% of Michael’s base salary (exclusive of superannuation) 

Long Term 
Incentives 

For FY22, Michael participated in IPD’s employee incentive plan (“EIP”) and was eligible to apply 
for a grant of Rights under the Plan. The number of Rights to be granted are calculated at 50% of 
Michael’s base salary, exclusive of superannuation. 

Termination Under Michael’s employment contract, either Michael or the Company can terminate his 
employment by giving the other party 3 months’ notice (which the Company may pay in lieu of 
notice of part or all of the notice period).   

The Company may also summarily terminate Michael’s employment contract in certain 
circumstances, including if Michael engages in serious misconduct, is grossly negligent or 
incompetent in the performance of his duties, if he commits any serious or persistent breach of the 
employment contract or any workplace policy or if he is charged with a criminal offence that the 
Company considers adversely impacts his suitability for employment with the Company.   
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AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D) 

Executive Director remuneration (cont’d) 

Chief Financial Officer 
Details regarding the terms of employment of the CFO and Executive Director, Mohamed Yoosuff, are set out below: 

Term Description 

Remuneration 
and other 
benefits 

Effective from 1 July 2021, Mohamed Yoosuff is entitled to receive a base salary of $328,527 
(exclusive of superannuation). Mohamed is also entitled to a motor vehicle allowance of $51,096 
per annum and use of a laptop and mobile phone provided by the Company.  

Short Term 
Incentives 

For FY22, Mohamed was eligible for and achieved a cash bonus under IPD’s STI.  The STI can 
range from 0% to 50% of Mohamed’s base salary (exclusive of superannuation) 

Long Term 
Incentives 

For FY22, Mohamed participated in IPD’s EIP and was eligible to apply for a grant of Rights under 
the Plan. The number of Rights to be granted are calculated at 25% of Mohamed’s base salary, 
exclusive of superannuation. 

Termination Under Mohamed’s employment contract, either Mohamed or the Company can terminate his 
employment by giving the other party 3 months’ notice (which the Company may pay in lieu of 
notice of part or all of the notice period).   

The Company may also summarily terminate Mohamed’s employment contract in certain 
circumstances, including if Mohamed engages in serious misconduct, is grossly negligent or 
incompetent in the performance of his duties, if he commits any serious or persistent breach of the 
employment contract or any workplace policy or if he is charged with a criminal offence that the 
Company considers adversely impacts his suitability for employment with the Company 

 

Executive incentive arrangements 

Short-term incentives 

The Company has established a short-term incentive (STI) program under which cash awards may be payable to 
participants, subject to the satisfaction of specified performance criteria. The Company’s executive employment contracts 
recognise the potential for the award of STIs in future year.  

Under the STI program, the Board may, in its absolute and sole discretion, determine the participation in, the amount of and 
performance criteria for the STI program for any given year. Performance criteria may include: 
 individual performance criteria tailored to each respective role; and/or 
 the Company’s financial performance against criteria set by the Board for the relevant financial year and may include 

measures such as statutory or pro-forma EBITDA, EBIT or NPAT targets. 
 
The STI for the period ended 30 June 2022 was structured on the following basis: 
 Michael Sainsbury is entitled to a cash bonus under IPD’s STI award for stretch performance, measured against group 

EBIT performance. The maximum cash bonus for Michael for FY22 has been set at $206,000 (inclusive of 
superannuation), which is 50% of Michael’s base salary (exclusive of superannuation) for FY22. 

 Mohamed Yoosuff is entitled to a cash bonus under IPD’s STI award for stretch performance, measured against group 
EBIT performance. The maximum cash bonus for Mohamed for FY22 has been set at $164,264 (inclusive of 
superannuation), which is 50% of Mohamed’s base salary (exclusive of superannuation) for FY22. 

 
Subsequent to year end, the non-executive Directors approved the payment of the STI awards for the CEO of $206,000 and 
for the CFO $164,264.  
 

Equity incentives 

The Company has established the EIP to assist in the motivation, reward and retention of senior management and other IPD 
employees from time to time. The EIP is designed to align the interests of senior management and other employees with the 
interests of Shareholders by providing an opportunity for employees to receive equity interests in the Company subject to the 
satisfaction of certain performance conditions. IPD may offer additional incentive schemes to the management and 
employees over time. 

The EIP is a long-term incentive plan, under which options or performance rights to subscribe for or be transferred Shares 
(Plan Awards) may be offered to eligible employees (including a director employed in an executive capacity or any other 
person who is declared by the Board to be eligible) selected by the Directors at their discretion.   

For the period ended 30 June 2022, the Company has granted Performance Rights as follows: 
 Michael Sainsbury CEO and Executive Director  171,667 Performance Rights, calculated by dividing $206,000 by the 

Offer Price, rounding to the nearest whole number 
 Mohamed Yoosuff CFO and Executive Director  68,443 Performance Rights, calculated by dividing $82,132 by the 

Offer Price, rounding to the nearest whole number 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D) 

Executive Director remuneration (cont’d) 

The impact of government subsidies received during the financial year, such as the JobKeeper Payment scheme, have been 
excluded from all EIP calculations. 

Michael Sainsbury and Mohamed Yoosuff (the executives) are the only employees who are receiving Performance Rights 
pursuant to the FY22 award under the EIP 

Plan Awards will not be listed and may not be transferred, assigned or otherwise dealt with except with the approval of the 
Directors. Plan Awards will only vest where the vesting conditions (if any) and any other relevant conditions advised to the 
participant by the Directors have been satisfied or as otherwise permitted under the EIP. The Directors may determine such 
conditions (including vesting conditions) at their discretion. An unvested Plan Award will lapse in a number of circumstances 
including where performance conditions (if any) are not satisfied within the relevant time period, the participant deals with the 
Plan Award in breach of the rules of the EIP, or in the opinion of the Directors, a participant has acted fraudulently or 
dishonestly.  

If a participant’s employment or engagement with IPD terminates before the Plan Awards have vested, the Plan Awards that 
have not vested will lapse, unless the invitation provides otherwise or the Directors in their absolute discretion determine that 
some or all of the unvested Plan Awards will be treated in another manner.  Where Plan Awards have vested prior to the 
termination of a participant’s employment or engagement with IPD the participant will have a period of time to exercise the 
vested Plan Awards before they lapse.  

On the occurrence of certain events (such as the making of a takeover bid for the Company or the approval of a scheme of 
arrangement in relation to the Company), unless otherwise provided for in the terms of specific Plan Awards, the Directors 
may in their absolute discretion determine that some or all Plan Awards vest, lapse, become forfeited or are subject to 
amended conditions. If there are certain variations of the share capital of the Company including a capitalisation or rights 
issue, subdivision, consolidation or reduction in share capital, the Directors may make such adjustments as they consider 
appropriate under the EIP, in accordance with the provisions of the ASX Listing Rules.  

Unless and until Shares are allocated following a Plan Award vesting and, where required, being exercised, the holder has 
no interest in those Shares and has no rights to dividends and no rights to vote at meetings of the Company. Shares issued 
upon vesting and, where required, exercise, of the Plan Awards will upon allotment rank equally in all respects with other 
Shares, except as regards any rights attaching to such Shares by reference to a record date prior to the date of their issue.  

For so long as Shares are Listed, the Company will apply for quotation on ASX of the Shares issued under the EIP. No Plan 
Awards or Share may be offered under the EIP if to do so would contravene the Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules or 
instruments of relief issued by ASIC from time to time. The EIP provide the Board with broad clawback powers if, for 
example, the participant has acted fraudulently or dishonestly or dishonestly, or is in breach of his or her obligations to IPD. 

The Board may at any time amend all or any provisions of the EIP or the terms or conditions of any Plan Award granted 
under the EIP, subject to limited restrictions on amendments that adversely affect the existing rights of a holder of Plan 
Awards. The exercise by the Board of any discretion granted under the EIP or the terms of a Plan Award will not constitute 
an amendment of the provisions of the EIP.  The Board may at any time waive in whole or in part any terms or conditions 
(including any vesting conditions) in relation to any Plan Awards granted under the EIP.  The Board may, at any time, 
terminate or suspend the EIP.  
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D) 

Executive Director remuneration (cont’d) 

The Key Terms of the current award under the EIP are summarised in the table below 

Vesting conditions The Performance Rights are subject to performance conditions as follows:   
 50% of a Participant’s Performance Rights will be tested against the Company’s total shareholder 

return (TSR) for FY22 in comparison to the median TSR achieved by a comparator group (TSR 
Rights); and  

 50% of a Participant’s Performance Rights will be tested against the Company’s NPAT for FY22 in 
comparison to the forecast statutory NPAT for FY22F disclosed in this Prospectus (NPAT Rights). 

In addition to these performance conditions, the Performance Rights will only vest at their respective 
Vesting Date. 
 
Performance conditions  
TSR Rights 
The Company’s TSR will be assessed against the median performance over the relevant performance 
period of the companies included in the S&P/ASX Small Ordinaries Industrials Index.  
For the calculation of the Company’s TSR, the share price baseline for the TSR calculation was the 
Offer Price and the performance period will be the period from the date that the Company was Listed to 
30 June 2022.   
NPAT Rights 
The Company’s NPAT will be calculated using the Company’s financial performance as reported in the 
Company’s audited full year audited results for FY22, excluding:  
 one-off or extraordinary revenue items;  
 revenue received in the form of government grants, allowances, rebates or other hand-outs; and 
 revenue or profit that has been ‘manufactured’ to achieve the performance condition. 

 
Vesting Date 
In addition, even if either of the performance conditions are satisfied, Performance Rights will only vest 
if the Participant continues to be employed by the Company and has not given notice on the following 
dates:   
 1/3 of a Participant’s Performance Rights that have satisfied the relevant performance condition 

will vest on 30 September 2022; 
 1/3 of a Participant’s Performance Rights that have satisfied the relevant performance condition 

will vest on 30 September 2023; and 
 1/3 of a Participant’s Performance Rights that have satisfied the relevant performance condition 

will vest on 30 September 2024, 
(with each of 30 September 2022, 30 September 2023 and 30 September 2024 being a Vesting Date).  
Calculation of the performance conditions and achievement against the performance conditions and 
vesting schedule will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, having regard to any 
matters that it considers relevant (subject to the stated exclusions from NPAT calculations applying in 
all cases).   
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D) 

Executive Director remuneration (cont’d) 

Why were the vesting 
conditions chosen? 

Performance conditions  
The performance condition for the TSR Rights was chosen to align the interests of the executives with 
shareholder interests in optimising TSR (including the value of any dividend) and achieving median 
TSR when compared to a comparator group of listed companies.  The Board believes that TSR is an 
appropriate performance condition as it links executive reward to the Company’s relative share 
performance which is consistent with creating shareholder value relative to the Company’s peer group. 
The Board believes that the S&P/ASX Small Ordinaries Industrials Index represents an appropriate 
comparator group of listed companies as it represents a meaningful statistical sample and an 
appropriate group of alternative potential investments for shareholders with which to compare the 
Company’s performance.  
The performance conditions for the NPAT Rights were chosen to align the interests of the executives 
with shareholder interests in optimising the potential funds of the Company available for distribution to 
Shareholders as dividends and to provide an incentive for the executives to focus on the Company’s 
effective management of, treasury and tax matters. 
 
Vesting Dates 
The Vesting Dates have been set to assist the Company in the ongoing retention of the executives.   

Vesting and expiry of 
Performance Rights  

Unless the Board exercises a discretion available to it under the EIP:  
 in the event that either performance condition is not achieved, the Performance Rights relating to 

that performance condition will lapse; and  
 if the Participant ceases to be employed or has given notice before any of the Vesting Dates, the 

Performance Rights that have not yet vested at that time will lapse.  
Otherwise, Performance Rights will vest on satisfaction of both the relevant performance condition and 
the Participant’s continued employment (without having given notice) at the relevant Vesting Date for 
the Performance Right.  

Cash settlement  On vesting, the Company may exercise its discretion to make cash payments in lieu of allocating 
Shares to satisfy the Performance Rights.   

Change of control and 
other circumstances 
which may trigger early 
vesting 

In the event of a change of control of the Company, the Board may determine that the Performance 
Rights vest in accordance with the EIP, notwithstanding that the performance milestones have not 
been achieved, but only if the change of control of the Company is triggered by a person who does not 
control the Company at the time the Performance Rights are issued achieving control of more than 
50% of the ordinary voting securities in the Company.  

 

The only Plan Awards issued under the EIP are the Performance Rights referred to above.   

 

Other information about Directors’ interests and benefits 

Directors are reimbursed for properly documented and incurred travelling and other expenses in connection with and 
returning from Board or Committee meetings and general meetings. Non-Executive Directors may be paid such additional 
remuneration as the Directors consider to be appropriate where a Director performs extra services which are in addition to 
the ordinary duties of a director of the Company. 

There are no retirement benefit schemes for Directors, other than statutory superannuation contributions. Chapter 2E of the 
Corporations Act prohibits a company from giving a financial benefit to a related party (including any Director) without the 
prior approval of its members by ordinary resolution, unless an exemption applies.  
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D) 

Amounts of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2022 are set 
out in the following tables: 

 
 
 

 Base 
salary 

 
 
 

STI 

Non-
monetary 

Benefits 
Super-

annuation 

Long 
Term 

Benefits 
Equity 
settled Total 

 
 

 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Executive directors 
       

Michael Sainsbury  425,700 206,000 34,177 27,500 8,443 206,000 907,820 
Mohamed Yoosuff 390,086 164,264 - 27,500 7,788 82,132 671,770 

Total 815,786 370,264 34,177 55,000 16,231 288,132 1,579,590 

Non - executive directors 
       

David Rafter 89,388 - - 3,189 - - 92,577 
Andrew Moffat 64,406 - - 6,440 - - 70,846 
Total 153,794 - - 9,629 - - 163,423 

 

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 

 
Fixed 

Remuneration 
$’000 

At risk – STI 
$’000 

At risk – LTI 
$’000 

Executive directors 
   

Michael Sainsbury  495,820 206,000 206,000 

Mohamed Yoosuff 425,373 164,264 82,132 

Non-executive directors 
   

David Rafter 92,577 - - 

Andrew Moffat 70,846 - - 

 
Shareholding 
The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:  
 

 
 
 
 

Shares 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year1 

Received as 
part of 

remuneration1 

Issued under 
employee gift 

offer 

 
 

Additions Disposals/
other 

Balance at 
the end of 

the year 

Executive directors 
     

Michael Sainsbury  919,663 262,761 833 25,000 - 1,208,257 

Mohamed Yoosuff 10,418,474 131,380 833 670,979 - 11,221,666 

 

Non-executive directors 

     

David Rafter - 62,500 - 83,334 - 145,834 

Andrew Moffat 525,522 62,500 - 245,000 - 833,022 

 
1 The number of shares at the start of the year and shares issued as part of remuneration have been restated to reflect the number of shares post the pre-IPO share split.  
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IPD Group 
Year ended 30 June 2022    

AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT (CONT’D)

Share based payments granted during the current financial year

Performance 
rights series

Effective 
grant 
date Number granted

Grant 
date fair 

value
$ Vesting date

Executive directors
Michael Sainsbury Tranche 1 9/11/2021 57,222 68,666 30/09/2022

Tranche 2 9/11/2021 57,222 68,666 30/09/2023

Tranche 3 9/11/2021 57,223 68,668 30/09/2024

Mohamed Yoosuff Tranche 1 9/11/2021 22,814 27,377 30/09/2022

Tranche 2 9/11/2021 22,814 27,377 30/09/2023

Tranche 3 9/11/2021 22,815 27,378 30/09/2024

After successful completion of the performance hurdles for the FY21 performance rights, Michael Sainsbury was issued 3,333 
shares and Mohamed Yoosuff was issued 1,667 shares during the financial year ended 30 June 2022, prior to the pre-IPO
share split. Prior to the completion of the IPO offer, vesting of the remaining performance rights held by the CEO and CFO in 
respect of FY21 (in relation to which the Company’s performance hurdles that have been achieved) was accelerated and 
resulted in the additional issue of 175,183 shares to Michael Sainsbury and 87,578 shares to Mohamed Yoosuff during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2022.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

During the financial period, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring Directors of the Group, the Group
secretary, and all executive officers of the Group and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such a director, 
secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial period, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such 
an officer or auditor.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 18 of the financial report.

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in the Class order 2016/191 - ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in 
the Directors’ report and the half year financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
indicated.

This Directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to s298 (2) (a) of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

David Rafter Michael Sainsbury
Director Director
Sydney, 30 August 2022 Sydney, 30 August 2022
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IPD Group Limited 
ACN: 111 178 361 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 

 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022, there have 
been: 
 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PKF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SCOTT TOBUTT 
PARTNER 
 
30 AUGUST 2022 
SYDNEY, NSW 

 
 

 

 

PKF (NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership 
ABN 91 850 861 839 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

Sydney 
Level 8, 1 O'Connell Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 
GPO Box 5446 Sydney NSW 2001 
p +61 2 8346 6000 
f +61 2 8346 6099 

Newcastle 
755 Hunter Street 
Newcastle West NSW 2302 Australia 
PO Box 2368 Dangar NSW 2309 
p +61 2 4962 2688 
f +61 2 4962 3245 

PKF (NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of separately owned firms and does not accept any 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms. 

For our office locations visit www.pkf.com.au 

 

 

 

 



20 
 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE MEMBERS OF IPD GROUP LTD 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of IPD Group Ltd (the “Group”), which comprises 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the Group and 
the consolidated entity comprising the Group and the entities it controlled at the year end or from time 
to time during the financial year. 
 
In our opinion, the financial report of IPD Group Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

 
i) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and 

of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  
 
Independence  
 
We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. 
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
Key Audit Matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context.
  

 

PKF (NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership 
ABN 91 850 861 839 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

Sydney 
Level 8, 1 O'Connell Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 
GPO Box 5446 Sydney NSW 2001 
p +61 2 8346 6000 
f +61 2 8346 6099 

Newcastle 
755 Hunter Street 
Newcastle West NSW 2302 Australia 
PO Box 2368 Dangar NSW 2309 
p +61 2 4962 2688 
f +61 2 4962 3245 

PKF (NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of separately owned firms and does not accept any 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms. 

For our office locations visit www.pkf.com.au 
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 
 
1. Revenue from contracts with customers 
    (Refer to note 5) $181.2million  
 
Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers was a 
key audit matter given the: 
 
• magnitude of the amount 
• number of different revenue streams and 

types of variable consideration given the 
diversity of products and services 

• complexity of the contractual 
arrangements 

 
We have also focused on revenue recognition 
as the Group uses complex manual 
calculations, dependent on information from 
multiple billing systems, to determine the timing 
of revenue recognition and the value of 
contract liabilities for the relevant financial 
period for each revenue stream.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Inventory Valuation and Existence   
    (Refer to note 11) $32.9million 
 
Inventory was a key audit matter due to the:  
 

• financial significance of inventory to 
the consolidated balance sheet 

• the geographically diverse locations 
where inventory is stored; and 

• the principles applied in the 
determining the valuation of inventory. 

 
We also considered the accounting treatment 
in line with the requirements of AASB 102 
Inventories. 
 

  
We assessed the Group’s accounting policy in 
light of the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards and developed an 
understanding of the key terms of the 
arrangements with customers and performance 
obligations. 
 
Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
• tested on a sample basis whether revenue 

had been recorded at the correct amount 
and in the correct period, in accordance with 
the Group’s revenue recognition policy. This 
included assessing whether: 

• evidence of an underlying arrangement with 
the customer existed 

• appropriate performance obligations and 
consideration had been identified 

• amounts allocated to the performance 
obligations were made with reference to 
their   standalone selling prices, where 
relevant 

• the timing of revenue recognition had been 
appropriately considered for each revenue 
stream in accordance with its performance 
obligations 

• considered and assessed the adequacy of 
the Group’s disclosures of revenue from 
contracts with customers in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

 
 
We focused our efforts on developing an 
understanding and testing the methodology for 
which the Group recognises and measures 
inventory. We considered the appropriateness 
of the Group’s accounting policies to 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards.  
 
In obtaining sufficient, appropriate audit 
evidence, our procedures included, amongst 
others: 
  

• attending, observing and assessing 
stocktakes performed by the Group at a 
sample of locations and performing 
independent test counts where 
appropriate 
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 
 
2. Inventory Valuation and Existence (cont’d)   
    (Refer to note 11) $32.9million 
 
Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
• reviewing the application of the Group’s cycle 

count procedures 
• obtaining confirmations of inventories held at a 

sample of locations 
• evaluating whether any required adjustments 

identified from our count attendance, cycle 
count procedures or confirmations were 
appropriately reflected 

• testing, for a sample of inventory items, 
whether the cost was recorded at the correct 
amount 

• compared the carrying value to the NRV to 
identify projects with potential impairments 

• assessing the Group’s inventory provisioning 
policy by comparing the prior period inventory 
provision to inventory sold below cost or 
written off in the current period; and 

• evaluating the related financial statement 
disclosures for consistency with Australian 
Accounting Standards requirements. 

 
 

3. Business Combination  
    (Refer to note 26)  
 
We considered the accounting treatment in line 
with the requirements of AASB 3 Business 
Combinations. 
 
On 01 October 2021, IPD Group Ltd acquired 
100% interest of High Technology Control Pty 
Ltd (HTC). The transaction gave rise to a 
$5.5million goodwill balance on acquisition. On 
4th April 2022 the Group acquired the business 
name, intellectual property, contracts for supply 
to customers, records and employees of Gemtek 
Group Pty Ltd (Gemtek). The transaction gave 
rise to a $350,000 goodwill balance on 
acquisition. 
 
The accounting for the acquisition was a key 
audit matter because it was a significant 
transaction to the Group. In addition, the Group 
made complex  
 

We performed the following audit procedures, 
amongst others:  
 

• read the sales agreement between the 
Group and HTC & Gemtek to obtain an 
understanding of the transaction and the 
business acquired  

• read relevant minutes of the Board of 
Directors, legal correspondence and other 
documents evaluating the transaction  

• evaluated the Group’s accounting against 
the requirements of accounting standards  

• assessed the most reliable measure of the 
fair value of the scheme consideration at 
the acquisition date  

• obtained an understanding of the pre-
existing relationships and inspected 
contracts to evaluate the accounting 
treatment of the settlement of preexisting 
relationships  
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Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 
 
3. Business Combination (cont’d)   
    (Refer to note 26)  
 
Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
 
judgements when accounting for the acquisition, 
including: 

• identifying the effective date of acquisition 
which is the deemed date of effective 
control  

• estimating the purchase consideration, 
particularly in respect of determining the: 
• fair value of shares issued and 

settlement of preexisting relationships 
• determining if the pre-existing 

contractual relationships reflected 
market value at the acquisition date so 
that no gain or loss was recognized 

• identifying all assets and liabilities of 
the newly acquired business and 
estimating the fair value of each asset 
and liability for initial recognition by the 
Group, particularly the Customer 
Contracts and Relationships and 
Brands, which included engaging a 
valuation expert to assist in the 
assignment of provisional fair values at 
the acquisition date. 

  
• assessed, with the assistance of our 

valuation experts, the work performed by 
the Group’s valuation experts over the 
provisional purchase price allocation to 
the provisional valuation of intangibles 
assets and the assets and liabilities 
reconciled the identified provisional fair 
values to the accounting records, and  

• considered and assessed the adequacy 
of the Group’s disclosures of business 
combinations in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

 
Other Information 
 
Other information is financial and non-financial information in the annual report of the Group which is 
provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The directors are responsible for 
Other Information in the annual report. 
 
The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the director’s report. 
The remaining Other Information is expected to be made available to us after the date of the Auditor’s 
Report. 
 
Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, the auditor 
does not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the 
exception of the Remuneration Report. 
  
In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information 
in the Financial Report and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we 
obtained prior the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the consolidated entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
consolidated entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue and auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individual or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the consolidated entity’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and other related disclosures made by the directors. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the consolidated entity to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (cont’d) 
 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the consolidated entity to express an opinion on the group financial report. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 
2022. 
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of IPD Group Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2022, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 
 
 
 
 

PKF 
 
 
 
 
 
SCOTT TOBUTT 
PARTNER 
 
30 AUGUST 2022 
SYDNEY, NSW 
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IPD Group 
Year ended 30 June 2022    

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In the directors' opinion:

a) the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

b) the attached financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards: and

c) the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 
2022 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

David Rafter Michael Sainsbury
Director Director
Sydney, 30 August 2022 Sydney, 30 August 2022
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

 Note Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

$’000 
    
Revenue from continuing operations 5 176,781          118,095 

Materials and consumables used  (109,310) (71,840) 

Other income 5 599 240 

Employee benefits expense   (34,069) (24,906) 

Freight and delivery expenses  (4,016) (2,673) 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 6 (3,596) (3,965) 

Occupancy costs  (1,132) (665) 

Finance costs 6 (632) (744) 

Other expenses  (6,948) (4,501) 

IPO expense 7 (1,593) - 

    

Profit before income tax   16,084            9,042 
Income tax expense  8 (4,969) (2,534) 
  -  

Profit after income tax expense for the period  11,115 6,508 
    

Earnings per share    

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 23 14.3 10.3 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 23 14.3 10.3 

 
 
The consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

 Note Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

$’000 
    
Profit/(Loss) after income tax for the period  11,115 6,508 

Other comprehensive income 

   

 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (147) (28) 

 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

   

Actuarial revaluation gain    20 
 

6 
 

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to the 
owners of IPD Group Ltd 

 10,988 6,486 

 
 
The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to 
the financial statements. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

 Note 30 June 
 2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 9 25,401 12,592 

Trade and other receivables 10 37,604 27,049 

Inventories 11 32,908 23,207 

Other assets  1,108 737 

Total current assets  97,021 63,585 

    

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 12 3,354 2,669 

Right of use assets 13 11,126 13,191 

Intangible assets 14 10,459 5,230 

Deferred tax assets 15 2,891 2,001 

Total non-current assets  27,830 23,091 

    

Total assets  124,851 86,676 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 40,382 28,275 

Current tax liabilities 17 1,638 984 

Lease liability 13 2,388 2,489 

Provisions 18 6,261 3,083 

Total current liabilities  50,669 34,831 

    

Non-current liabilities    

Lease liability 13 10,174 12,111 

Provisions 18 341 409 

Deferred tax liabilities 19 235 134 

Total non-current liabilities  10,750 12,654 

    

Total liabilities  61,419 47,485 

    

Net assets  63,432 39,191 

    

Equity    

Issued capital 20 31,488 8,920 

Reserves 21 (69) 85 

Retained earnings  32,013 30,186 

Total equity  63,432 39,191 

 
The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements.
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
for the year ended 30 June 2022 

 Note Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

$’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  185,966            125,274 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (169,085) (111,357) 

Finance costs paid  (628) (24) 

Income taxes paid  (5060) (3,602) 

Net cash generated by operating activities 28 11,193              10,291 
    

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  213 1 

Payment for property, plant and equipment  (1,997) (668) 

Acquisition of Subsidiary, net of cash acquired  (2,333) (2,810) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (4,117) (3,477) 
    

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Repayment of lease liabilities  (2,406) (2,997) 

Dividends paid  (9,308) (2,901) 

Proceeds from issue of shares 20 20,000 - 

Share issue transaction costs  (2,475) - 

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities  5,811 (5,898) 
    

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  12,887 916 
    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period  12,579             11,663 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash  (65) - 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period  25,401              12,579 

 
 
The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the financial statements. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
These general-purpose financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the 
Corporations Act 2001. The financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments to fair value. Cost is based on the fair values 
of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis for consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial position and performance of controlled entities from the 
date on which control is obtained until the date that control is lost.  

Intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cashflows relating to transactions between entities in the 
consolidated entity have been eliminated in full for the purpose of these financial statements. 

Appropriate adjustments have been made to a controlled entity’s financial position, performance and cash flows 
where the accounting policies used by that entity were different from those adopted by the consolidated entity.  All 
controlled entities have a June financial year end. 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the parent has control.  Control is established 
when the parent is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. 

 
(b) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method which requires an acquiring entity to be 
identified in all cases.  The acquisition date under this method is the date that the acquiring entity obtains control over 
the acquired entity. 

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are recognised in the consolidated financial statements at 
the acquisition date. 

Goodwill or a gain on bargain purchase may arise on the acquisition date, this is calculated by comparing the 
consideration transferred and the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree with the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired.  Where consideration is greater than the net assets acquired, the excess is recorded as 
goodwill.  Where the net assets acquired are greater than the consideration, the measurement basis of the net assets 
are reassessed and then a gain from bargain purchase recognised in profit or loss. 

All acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred except for 
costs to issue debt or equity securities. 

Any contingent consideration which forms part of the combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.  If 
the contingent consideration is classified as equity then it is not remeasured and the settlement is accounted for 
within equity.  Otherwise subsequent changes in the value of the contingent consideration liability are measured 
through profit or loss. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(c) Revenue and other income 
 

Revenue from contracts with customers   

The core principle of AASB 15 is that revenue is recognised on a basis that reflects the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for 
those goods or services.  Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step model as follows: 

1. Identify the contract with the customer 
2. Identify the performance obligations 
3. Determine the transaction price 
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5. Recognise revenue as and when control of the performance obligations is transferred 

Generally the timing of the payment for sale of goods and rendering of services corresponds closely to the timing of 
satisfaction of the performance obligations, however where there is a difference, it will result in the recognition of a 
receivable, contract asset or contract liability. 

None of the revenue streams of the Group have any significant financing terms as there is less than 12 months 
between receipt of funds and satisfaction of performance obligations. 
 
 
Specific revenue streams   

The revenue recognition policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group are: 

Sale of goods 

Sale goods consists of industrial electrical products, including engineered solutions, direct to the "end user" customer 
and to the electrical wholesale markets. Revenue is recognised when our performance obligations have been 
satisfied, which is upon delivery of the goods. 

Rendering of services 

Rendering of services relates to the testing, calibration and repair of electrical testing and measurement equipment. 

Revenue is recognised when the control of the promised goods and services is passed to the customer, typically 
upon performance or delivery of such goods and services. Accordingly, for the revenue streams described above, 
revenue is recognised at the point in time as the goods are delivered and services are performed. 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in a contract with a 
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
Other income   

Other income is recognised on an accruals basis when the Group is entitled to it. 

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance the Group will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a 
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants 
are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 

 
(d) Operating segments 

 
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for 
the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

 
(e) Taxation 

The tax expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income comprises current 
income tax expense plus deferred tax expense. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(e) Taxation (cont’d) 

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (loss) for the year and 
is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax liabilities 
(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.  

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences which are determined by comparing the carrying amounts of tax 
bases of assets and liabilities to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  

Deferred tax is not provided for the following: 

 The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

 Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

 Temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and losses can be 
utilised.  

Current and deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period except 
where the tax arises from a transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case 
the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively. 

 
Tax consolidation 
 
IPD Group Limited (“the Group”) and its 100% owned Australian subsidiaries are part of a tax consolidated 
group. As a result, members of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax 
expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of 
income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax obligations. At the balance date, the 
possibility of default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidation is the Group. 
 
The Group has recognised the current tax liability of the tax consolidated group. 
 
Members of the tax consolidated group are part of a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement provides for 
the allocation of current and deferred taxes to members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with their taxable 
income for the year. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an increase/decrease 
in the 
subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the head entity. The Group has applied the group allocation approach to 
determine the appropriate amount of current and deferred tax to allocate to each member of the tax consolidated 
group. 

 
 

(f) Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(g) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified as operating cash flows. 

 
(h) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost of inventory is determined using the 
weighted average costs basis and is net of any rebates and discounts received.  Net realisable value is estimated 
using the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date and inventory is written down through an 
obsolescence provision if necessary. 

 
(i) Property, plant and equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. 

 Land and buildings  

Land and buildings are measured using the cost model. 

Plant and equipment    

Plant and equipment are measured using the cost model. 

Depreciation   

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful 
life to the Group, commencing when the asset is ready for use. 

Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease 
or their estimated useful life. 

The estimated useful lives used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below: 
 
Fixed asset class                               Useful life 
Plant and Equipment  3 - 10 years  
Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings  4 - 10 years  
Motor Vehicles  4 - 5 years  
Leasehold improvements  Over the period of the lease  

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is 
reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. 

 
(j) Right of use assets 

 

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises of the lease 
liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration less any lease 
incentives received.The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term on a straight line basis and assessed for 
impairment in accordance with the impairment of assets accounting policy. 
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 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(k) Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date that the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. 

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred). 
 
Financial assets   

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

Classification 
On initial recognition the Group classifies measures its financial assets at amortised cost. 

 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets. 

Amortised cost 

Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets where: 
 the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal amount outstanding. 

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents in the statement of financial position. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 
less provision for impairment. 

Interest income, foreign exchange gains or losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.  Gain or loss on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets  

Impairment of financial assets is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis for the following assets: 
 financial assets measured at amortised cost 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial assets has increased significant since initial recognition and 
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the 
Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward looking information. 

The Group uses the presumption that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant increase in 
credit risk. 

The Group uses the presumption that a financial asset is in default when: 
 the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse to the Group to 

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 
 the financial assets is more than 90 days past due. 

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows expected to be received.  This is applied using a probability weighted 
approach. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(k) Financial Instruments (cont’d) 

Trade receivables and contract assets  

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets have been determined using the simplified approach in AASB 9 
which uses an estimation of lifetime expected credit losses.  The Group has determined the probability of 
non-payment of the receivable and contract asset and multiplied this by the amount of the expected loss arising from 
default. 

The amount of the impairment is recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being recognised in finance 
expense.  Once the receivable is determined to be uncollectable then the gross carrying amount is written off against 
the associated allowance. 

Where the Group renegotiates the terms of trade receivables due from certain customers, the new expected cash 
flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Impairment of other financial assets measured at amortised cost are determined using the expected credit loss model 
in AASB 9.  On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 months is 
recognised.  Where the asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then the lifetime losses are estimated 
and recognised. 

 
Financial liabilities   

The Group measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The financial liabilities of the Group comprise trade payables, bank and other loans and lease liabilities. 
 
 

(l) Impairment of non financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period the Group determines whether there is an evidence of an impairment indicator for 
non-financial assets. 

Where an indicator exists and regardless for goodwill, indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets not yet 
available for use, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating 
unit (CGU) is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating 
unit. 

Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods for all assets which have suffered an impairment loss, 
except for goodwill. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(m) Intangible assets 
 
Goodwill   

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the sum of: 
i) the consideration transferred;  
ii) any non-controlling interest; and 
iii) the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest;  

over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in a business combination. 

Under the 'full goodwill method', the fair values of the non-controlling interests are determined using valuation 
techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available. 

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is 
included in investments in associates. 

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group's cash generating units 
or groups of cash generating units, which represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored but where such 
level is not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill related to the entity sold. 

Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions and do not affect the 
carrying values of goodwill. 

 

(n) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

Bank overdrafts also form part of cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows and are presented 
within current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

 
(o) Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days. 

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days 
overdue. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
 

(p) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year 
and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(q) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a lease exists - i.e. does the contract convey the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

This involves an assessment of whether: 
 The contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be explicitly or implicitly identified within the 

agreement.  If the supplier has a substantive substitution right then there is no identified asset. 
 The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset 

throughout the period of use. 
 The Group has the right to direct the use of the asset i.e. decision making rights in relation to changing how 

and for what purpose the asset is used. 

Lessee accounting 

The non-lease components included in the lease agreement have been separated and are recognised as an expense 
as incurred. 

At the lease commencement, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease 
term.  The lease term includes extension periods where the Group believes it is reasonably certain that the option will 
be exercised. 

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises of the lease 
liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration less any lease 
incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term on a straight line basis and assessed for impairment in 
accordance with the impairment of assets accounting policy. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of 
the lease.  The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined then 
the Group's incremental borrowing rate is used. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.  The lease liability is remeasured whether there is a lease modification, change in estimate of the lease term 
or index upon which the lease payments are based (e.g. CPI) or a change in the Group's assessment of lease term. 

Where the lease liability is remeasured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the remeasurement or is recorded 
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

Exceptions to lease accounting 

The Group has elected to apply the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term 
of less than or equal to 12 months) and leases of low-value assets.  The Group recognises the payments associated 
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
(r) Employee benefits 

Provision is made for the Group's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the 
end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the 
liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting 
requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality corporate bond rates incorporating bonds 
rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cashflows. Changes in 
the measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(s) Warranty provisions 

Warranty provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the outflow required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the 
unwinding of the discount is taken to finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
(t) Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 

 
(u) Dividends 

Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the Group. 
 

(v) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the Group, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to 
dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
(w) Share based payments 

 
The Company has established the EIP to assist in the motivation, reward and retention of senior management and 
other IPD employees from time to time. The EIP is designed to align the interests of senior management and other 
employees with the interests of Shareholders by providing an opportunity for employees to receive equity interests in 
the Company subject to the satisfaction of certain performance conditions. IPD may offer additional incentive 
schemes to the management and employees over time. 

 
(x) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 
Transaction and balances   

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the spot rate on the date of the transaction. 

At the end of the reporting period: 
 Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate; 
 Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of 

the transaction; and 
 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are translated using the rate at the date when fair value 

was determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different 
from those at which they were translated on initial recognition or in prior reporting periods are recognised through 
profit or loss, except where they relate to an item of other comprehensive income or whether they are deferred in 
equity as qualifying hedges. 

Foreign subsidiary transactions and balances are translated at the closing rate at the end of each reporting period. 
Exchange differences arising on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they were translated 
on initial recognition or in prior reporting periods are recognised in equity. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(y) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 

The Group has adopted all standards which became effective for the first time at 30 June 2022, the adoption of these 
standards has not caused any material adjustments to the reported financial position, performance or cash flow of the 
Group. 

 
(z) Rounding of amounts 

 

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in the Class order 2016/191 - ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the Directors’ report and the half year financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated. 

 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to 
assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on 
historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may have, on 
the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services 
offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. Other than as 
addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or 
any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the consolidated entity unfavourably as at the 
reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.  
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-
Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates 
and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. Refer to note 29 for further information. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers involving sale of goods 
When recognising revenue in relation to the sale of goods to customers, the key performance obligation of the consolidated entity 
is considered to be the point of delivery of the goods to the customer, as this is deemed to be the time that the customer obtains 
control of the promised goods and therefore the benefits of unimpeded access.  
 
Determination of variable consideration 
Judgement is exercised in estimating variable consideration which is determined having regard to past experience with respect to 
the goods returned to the consolidated entity where the customer maintains a right of return pursuant to the customer contract or 
where goods or services have a variable component. Revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that 
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised under the contract will not occur when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.  
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the lifetime 
expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected credit loss rate for 
each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience, historical collection rates, the impact of the Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) pandemic and forward-looking information that is available. The allowance for expected credit losses, as disclosed in 
note 10, is calculated based on the information available at the time of preparation. The actual credit losses in future years may 
be higher or lower. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONT’D) 

Net realisable value of inventories  
The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The realisable value is 
assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and other factors that affect the 
recoverable amount of inventory.. 
 
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its  
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of  
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful  
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned  
or sold will be written off or written down. 
 
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment,  
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting  
policy stated in note 1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use 
calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of 
capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular asset that may lead to 
impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of 
disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 
 
Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of 
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
issues based on the consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement is 
exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying asset 
will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included in the 
lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension 
option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include 
the importance of the asset to the consolidated entity's operations; comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates;  
incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the 
asset. The consolidated entity reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a 
termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 
 
Incremental borrowing rate 
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to discount 
future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. Such a rate is based 
on what the consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 
 
Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in note 2, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date are 
recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the 
reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and 
inflation have been taken into account. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONT’D) 

Lease make good provision 
A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The provision 
includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions 
such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and 
updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for sites are 
recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the provision that exceed 
the carrying amount of the asset will be recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Warranty provision 
In determining the level of provision required for warranties the consolidated entity has made judgements in respect of the 
expected performance of the products, the number of customers who will actually claim under the warranty and how often, and 
the costs of fulfilling the conditions of the warranty. The provision is based on estimates made from historical warranty data 
associated with similar products and services.  

 

Business combinations 
As discussed in note 2, business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets acquired, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the consolidated entity taking into consideration all available 
information at the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business combination accounting is 
retrospective, where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an impact on the assets and liabilit ies, 
depreciation and amortisation reported. 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Operating segments are reported in a manner which is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
makers. The chief operating decision makers have been identified as the Board of Directors for the Group. 

 
The internal reports reviewed by the Board, which are used to make strategic decisions, are separated into the Group’s key market 
segments Products division and Services Division: 

 
Operating segments have been defined as: 

 Products division – core focus in the products division is the sale of electrical infrastructure products to customers 
including switchboard manufacturers, electrical wholesalers, electrical contractors, power utilities, OEMs and system 
integrators 

 Services Division – provision of services, including installation and commissioning, calibration and testing, maintenance 
and repairs and refurbishment 
 

The accounting policies of the reportable secondary segments are the same as Group’s accounting policies. 
 

Year ended 30 June 2022 Products 
division 

 $’000 

Services 
division 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Revenue from external customers 159,200 17,581 176,781 
Other revenue / income 126 469 595 
    
Total revenue from ordinary activities 159,326 18,050 177,376 
    
Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 18,787 1,354 20,141 
    
Depreciation and amortisation expense   3,596 
Interest expense   461 
Profit before income tax   16,084 
    
Income Tax   4,969 
Net profit after income tax   11,115 

 

Year ended 30 June 2021 Products 
division 

$’000 

Services 
division 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Revenue from external customers 102,517 15,578 118,095 

Other revenue / income 37 195 232 

    
Total revenue from ordinary activities 102,554 15,773 118,327 
    
Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 12,652 939 13,591 
    
Depreciation and amortisation expense   3,984 

Interest expense   565 

Profit before income tax   9,042 
    
Income Tax   2,534 

Net profit after income tax   6,508 
 

The Group’s assets were not split by reportable secondary operating segment as the chief operating decision makers do not utilise 
this information for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance. 
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 

 
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 
$’000 

Revenue from external customers 176,781 118,095 

 
Other Income    

 Recoveries 77 166 

 Profit/(loss) from sale of fixed assets 73 (132) 

 Interest income 4 8 

 Other Income 445 198 

Total other income 599 240 
    
Total Revenue  177,380 118,335 

 
Other income includes:   

 Government grants including Covid Relief 412 100 

 Other 33 98 

 445 198 

 
Associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group received $412,104 (June 2021: $100,000) Job Keeper support payments 
from the Australian Government which were passed on to eligible employees. $100,000 was received in 2021 for Cashflow Boost. 

 
6. EXPENSES 

 
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 
$’000 

Depreciation   

 Plant and Equipment 1,050 1,113 

 Buildings ROU 2,434 2,672 

 Plant and Equipment ROU 112 180 

Total depreciation 3,596 3,965 

 
Finance costs    

 Bank charges 148 170 

 Interest and finance charges on lease liabilities 484 574 

Total finance costs 632 744 
 
 
 

  

7. IPO EXPENDITURE 

IPO net costs of $2,464,000 were incurred by the company for the successful listing on the Australian Securities Exchange. In 
accordance with AASB 132 the proportion of costs that are directly attributable to raising new share capital, amounting to $871,000, 
have been capitalised against the newly raised equity, with the remaining balance of $1,593,000 being taken up as an expense in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 

$’000 
 
Income tax expense 
 

  

Current Tax Expense   

 Local income tax -current period 5,365 2,728 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods (94) - 

Deferred Tax Expense   

 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (302) (194) 

Total income tax expense 4,969 2,534 

 
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate 
 

  

Profit before income tax expense 16,085 9,042 

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% 4,825 2,713 

 
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 

 

 Entertainment expenses 46 - 

 Management share rights 61 - 

 Other non-allowable items 131 (76) 

 Under/(over) provision for income tax in prior year (94) (103) 

Income tax expense 4,969 2,534 

 
 
9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 
$’000 

 Cash at bank 25,401 12,592 

 Cash on hand - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 25,401 12,592 
 
Cash and Cash equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are reconciled to the equivalent items in the 
statement of financial position as follows: 
 Cash and cash equivalents 25,401 12,592 

 Credit card - (13) 

Balance as per statement of cash flows 25,401 12,579 
 
 
 

  

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 
$’000 

 Trade receivables 38,128 27,454 

 Provision for impairment (524) (405) 

Trade and other receivables 37,604 27,049 
The carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of the 
balances. 
 
 
 



50 
 

 IPD Group  
Year ended 30 June 2022     

 

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable in the financial statements. 
 
Impairment of receivables   

  
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 
$’000 

 Balance at beginning of the year 405 535 

 (Write off) / additional impairment loss recognised 119 (130) 

Balance at end of year 524 405 

 
The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss (ECL).  The ECL 
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis 
of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the 
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date. 
 

 
Trade receivables  

$’000 
 Credit loss  

allowance 

 
Provision for impairment 

$’000 
Current  34,882  0.47%  163  
0 – 30 days  2,064  5.24%  108  
31 – 60 days  589  13.17%  78  
61 – 90 days  245  23.21%  57  
90+ days  349  33.97%  118  

Total trade receivables 38,128  524 
 
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.  
 
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there 
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. 

 
11. INVENTORIES 

 
 2022 
$’000 

 
2021 
$’000 

 Finished goods 32,324 22,474 

 Work in progress 584 733 

Total Inventories  32,908 23,207 
 
Write downs of inventories to net realisable value during the year were $ NIL (2021: $ NIL). 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Plant and 
Equipment 

Computer 
Equipment 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Fittings 
Motor 

Vehicles 
Leasehold 

Improvements Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2022 
 
 

   

Balance 1 July 2021 585 232 425 929 498 2,669 

Additions 117 800 104 552 415 1,988 

Disposals (19) (3) (26) (79) (34) (161) 

Foreign exchange on 
translation  

- (94)  2 - (92) 

Depreciation expense (220) (214) (83) (344) (189) (1,050) 

 
Balance at 30 June 2022 

 
 

463 

 
 

721 

 
 

420 

 
 

1060 

 
 

690 

 
 

3,354 
 
Year ended 30 June 2022 

 
 

   

Cost 3,215 3,196 915 2,672 1,421 11,419 

Accumulated depreciation (2,752) (2,475) (495) (1,612) (731) (8,065) 

 
Balance at 30 June 2022 

 
463 

 
721 

 
420 

 
1060 

 
690 

 
3,354 

 
 

Plant and 
Equipment 

Computer 
Equipment 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Fittings 
Motor 

Vehicles 
Leasehold 

Improvements Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2021 
 
 

   

Balance 1 July 2020 847 275 491 801 383 2,797 

Additions 113 183 19 185 87 587 

Additions through 
acquisition of entity 

314 8 - 19 379 720 

Disposals (41)  - (93) (188) (322) 

Transfers (383)  - 383 - - 

Depreciation expense (265) (234) (85) (366) (163) (1,113) 

 
Balance at 30 June 2021 

 
585 

 
232 

 
425 

 
929 

 
498 

 
2,669 

 
Year ended 30 June 2021 

     

Cost 3,076 2,528 876 2,525 1,075 10,080 

Accumulated depreciation (2,491) (2,296) (451) (1,596) (577) (7,411) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 585 232 425 929 498 2,669 

13. LEASES 

Right-of-use assets 

 
Buildings 

 $’000 

Motor 
Vehicles 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2022    

Balance at beginning of year 13,027 164 13,191 
Additions to right-of-use assets 958 - 958 
Reductions in right-of-use assets due to changes in lease 
liability 

(477) 
- 

(477) 

Depreciation charge (2.434) (112) (2.546) 
Balance at end of year 11,074 52 11,126 
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13. LEASES (CONT’D) 

Year ended 30 June 2021    

Balance at beginning of year 13,570 344 13,914 
Additions to right-of-use assets 2,661 - 2,661 
Reductions in right-of-use assets due to changes in lease 
liability (532) - (532) 
Depreciation charge (2,672) (180) (2,852) 
Balance at end of year 13,027 164 13,191 

 

Lease liabilities 
 

< 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years 
Total undiscounted 

lease liabilities 

Lease liabilities included in 
this Statement of Financial 

Position 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

June 2022 
     

Lease liabilities 2,838 8,403 2,607 13,848 12,562 

 
June 2021 

     

Lease liabilities 2,965 9,079 4,366 16,410 14,600 

 
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
 
The Group has leases for various network sites and motor vehicles. Rental contracts may contain both lease and non-lease  
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non- lease components based on their relative 
stand-alone prices. 
 
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements 
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may 
not be used as security for borrowing purposes. 
 
Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value 
assets comprise IT equipment. 

 

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 
  30 June 

2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

Goodwill 10,459 5,230 
 
Reconciliation of the written down value at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year is set out below: 

Opening balance   5,230 
Goodwill on acquisition of HTC   4,879 

Goodwill on acquisition of Gemtek   350 

Closing Balance   10,459 
 
Goodwill impairment was assessed that IPD is the only cash generating unit as only it will exist operationally from 1 July 2022 and 
assets will not be identifiable at a level distinguishable from IPD.  
 
The recoverable amount of the consolidated entity's goodwill has been determined by a value-in-use calculation using a 
discounted cash flow model, based on a 5 year projection period using a steady rate, together with a terminal value. 
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D) 

Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating units is most sensitive. 
  
The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model for the computer retailing division: 

 5% pre-tax discount rate reflects management’s estimate of the time value of money. 
 12% per annum projected revenue growth rate which is a an approximate 17-year revenue CAGR for the group. 

 
Management believes that other reasonable changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable goodwill is based would 
not cause the cash-generating unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

 30 June  
2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

Deferred tax assets 
  

Provisions and accruals 1,844 1,402 
Depreciation - 228 
Right of use assets 404 348 

Section 40-880 deduction – IPO and legal costs 583 14 
Other 60 9 

Total deferred tax assets 2,891 2,001 
 

   
 

 

30 June  
2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

The movement of net deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:   

Opening balance 2,001 1,556 
Amount recognised in profit and loss 402 328 

Amount recognised in equity 373 - 

Adjustments recognised for prior periods (45) (49) 

Additions through business combinations 160 166 

Closing balance 2,891 2,001 

 
16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

 
 Trade payables 33,652 21,652 

 Other payables 6,730 6,623 

Total trade and other payables 40,382 28,275 

 
17. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 

  2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

 
 Income tax payable 1,638 984 

Total Income tax payable 1,638 984 
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18. PROVISIONS 

  2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Current   

 Warranties 142 100 

 Provision of employee benefits 6,119 2,983 

Total current provisions 6,261 3,083 
 
Non-current 

   

 Provision of employee benefits 341 409 

 
19. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

 30 June  
2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

Deferred tax liabilities 
  

Depreciation 104 - 
Unrealised foreign exchange losses 131 134 
Total deferred tax liabilities 235 134 

 
   

 
 

30 June  
2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

The movement of net deferred tax liabilities during the year is as follows:   

Opening balance 134 - 
Amount recognised in profit and loss 101 134 

Amount recognised in equity - - 

Adjustments recognised for prior periods - - 

Additions through business combinations - - 

Closing balance 235 134 

 
20. ISSUED CAPITAL 

  30 June 
2022 

$ 

30 June  
2021 

$ 
86,285,762 fully paid ordinary shares (2021: 2,503,637) 31,487,944 8,920,000 

Movement: 
Date Details 

$ 
Number of 

Shares 
1 July 2021 Opening balance 8,920,000 2,503,637 
 Movement:   

9 September 2021 FY21 Performance Rights – Shares Issued 76,098 5,000 

1 October 2021 Shares issued as consideration for HTC acquisition 2,865,000 119,375 

9 November 2021 Share Split prior to IPO - 66,425,893 

13 December 2021 FY21 Performance Rights advanced vesting – Shares 
Issued 

134,939 262,761 

17 December 2021 New Capital raised on market 20,000,000 16,666,667 

17 December 2021 Employee gift offer Shares Issued 212,916 177,429 

17 December 2021 Non-Exec Director Shares Issued 150,000 125,000 

17 December 2021 Share issue costs (net of tax) (871,009) - 

30 June 2022 Closing Balance 31,487,944 86,285,762 
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21. RESERVES 

  2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

 
Foreign currency translation reserve (175) (27) 

Share based payments reserve 106 113 

Total reserves  (69) 85 

 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations 
to Australian dollars. It is also used to recognise gains and losses on hedges of the net investments in foreign operations. 
  
Share based payments reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise the equity-settled transactions with employees based on the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using either the Binomial or Back-Scholes model taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. 
 
22. DIVIDENDS 

The following dividends were declared and paid: 
 
 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Final ordinary fully franked dividend of 2.7 cents per share (2021: 2.3 cents per share) 1,782 1,386 

Interim ordinary fully franked dividend (2021: 2.3 cents per share) - 1,515 

Special pre-IPO fully franked dividend of 11.4 cents per share paid on 3 December 2021 7,526 - 

Total dividends declared and paid 9,308 2,901 
 

The cents per share from the dividends paid during the year ended 30 June 2022 have been recalculated to reflect the proportion of 
shares post share split. 
 
On 30 August 2022, the Directors declared a final dividend of 3.7 cents per share fully franked with an ex-dividend date of 19 
September 2022, record date of 20 September 2022 and payable on 03 October 2022. 
 
Franked dividends declared or paid during the year were franked at the tax rate of 30%. 
 
 

Franking credits account 
 
 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

The franking credits available for subsequent financial years at a tax rate of 30% 13,946 14,175 

The above available balance is based on the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for: 

(a) Franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities; 

(b) Franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year end; 

(c) Franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the end of the year. 

The ability to use the franking credits is dependent upon the Company's future ability to declare dividends. 
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23. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

Cents per share 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

Cents per share 
Basic earnings per share 14.3 10.3 

Diluted earnings per share 14.3 10.3 
 

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share 

 Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

$’000 
Net profit 11,115 6,508 

 

Reconciliation of shares used in calculating earnings per share 

 Year ended 
 30 June 2022 

No. 

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

No. 
Opening and closing balance of shares for the period 65,785,816 55,179,810 

Shares issued  20,499,946 10,606,006 

Closing balance of shares for the period 86,285,762 65,785,816 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 
basic earnings per share 

77,494,237 63,112,521 

 
Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of:   

Employee performance Rights  634,252 788,283 

Closing number of shares deemed to be issued for the period 85,891,620 65,785,816 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share 

77,933,608 63,404,078 

 
The weighted average number of shares for the year ended 30 June 2022 has been restated to reflect the proportion of shares 
post share split that were on hand during the prior financial period  
 
24. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS  

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by PKF, the auditor of the company, its network 
firms and unrelated firms: 

 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Audit services – PKF Audit and Assurance   

Auditing and reviewing the financial statements 143 103 

Other services PKF   

Taxation service 23 22 

Other consulting services 58 - 

Tax due diligence relating to IPO  28 - 

Investigating accountants report and due diligence relating to IPO 90 - 

Total remuneration of auditors 342 125 
 

 

25. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have 
not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2022. These Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations are not expected to have a material impact. 
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26. BUSINESS COMBINATION 

On 01 October 2021, IPD Group acquired 100% interest of High Technology Control Pty Ltd (HTC) and resulted in IPD Group 
Ltd obtaining control of High Technology Control Pty Ltd. This acquisition is expected to increase the Group's share of this market 
and reduce costs through economies of scale. 

 
The following table shows the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and the purchase consideration at the acquisition 
date. 
 

  Acquiree’s carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Fair Value 
$’000 

Purchase Consideration    

Cash   2,625 

Shares issues   2,865 

Total purchase consideration   5,490 

    

Assets or liabilities acquired    

Cash             641             641  
Trade receivables          2,066          2,066  
Inventories          1,021          1,021  
Plant and equipment                  7                  7  
Other assets                  2                  2  

Trade payables  (2,732)  (2,732)  

Provisions  (394)  (394)  
Total net identifiable assets  611 611 
    

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed  611 611 
    
Consideration   5,490 

Less: Identifiable assets acquired   (611) 

    

Goodwill   4,879 

 
On 4th April 2022 IPD Group Ltd acquired the business name, intellectual property, contracts for supply to customers, records and 
employees of Gemtek Group Pty Ltd who are an energy management and electric vehicle solutions provider. Physical or net assets 
of Gemtek Group Pty Ltd were not acquired. The Group is now one of a limited number in Australia that can provide a complete, 
end-to-end solution to EV charger customers including design, hardware, electrical infrastructure, installation, network management 
and maintenance solutions. 
 
Although the sale included the intangible assets and relevant employees redundancy from Gemtek Group Pty Ltd and new 
employment under IPD, per the standard this is subsumed into goodwill and no other intangible assets have been identified for 
separately recognition. 
 

  Acquiree’s carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Fair Value 
$’000 

Purchase Consideration    

Cash   350 

Less: Identifiable assets acquired   - 

Goodwill   350 
 
Discontinued Operations 
No operations were discontinued during the year ending 30 June 2022. 
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27. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following wholly-owned subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2: 

 
 

Principal place of business / 
Country of Incorporation 

Percentage 
Owned (%) 

2022 

Percentage 
Owned (%) 

2021 
Addelec Power Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Control Logic Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
High Technology Control Pty Ltd Australia 100 - 
IPD Colombo (PVT) Ltd Sri Lanka 100 100 
IPD Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

 
28. CASHFLOW INFORMATION 

Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities   
 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

  2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Profit for the year  11,115 6,508 

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities    

 
Non-cash flows and non-operating cash items in profit: 

   
 

 - depreciation  3,596 3,965 

 - net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (55) 132 

 - interest on lease liabilities  466 559 

 - performance rights expensed  204 113 

 - IPO costs  1,593 - 

 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 

   

 - (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (10,559) (10,131) 

 - (increase)/decrease in other assets  (369) (407) 

 - (increase)/decrease in inventories  (9,701) (7,575) 

- (increase)/decrease in tax liability  653 (73) 

 - (increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset  (789) (311) 

 - (increase)/decrease in financial assets  (141) (63) 

 - (increase)/decrease in working capital on acquisition of subsidiary  (38) 3,571 

 - increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  12,369 13,200 

 - increase/(decrease) in provisions  2,849 837 

 - increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  - (35) 

Cashflows from operations  11,193 10,291 

 
Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation 
Certain prior year expense amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These 
reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations. This change in classification does not affect previously 
reported cash flows from operating activities in the Statements of Cash Flows. 
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29. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

At 30 June 2022 the Group has the following share-based payment schemes: 
 
The Company has established the EIP to assist in the motivation, reward and retention of senior management and other IPD 
employees from time to time. The EIP is designed to align the interests of senior management and other employees with the 
interests of Shareholders by providing an opportunity for employees to receive equity interests in the Company subject to the 
satisfaction of certain performance conditions. IPD may offer additional incentive schemes to the management and employees 
over time. 

The EIP is a long-term incentive plan, under which options or performance rights to subscribe for or be transferred Shares (Plan 
Awards) may be offered to eligible employees (including a director employed in an executive capacity or any other person who is 
declared by the Board to be eligible) selected by the Directors at their discretion.   

The invitations issued to eligible employees will include information such as the amount required to be paid for the Plan Award (if 
any), vesting conditions and any trading restrictions on dealing with Shares allocated on vesting or exercise of a Plan Award. Upon 
acceptance of an invitation, the Directors will grant Plan Awards in the name of the eligible employee. On vesting, one Plan Award 
is exercisable into or entitles the holder to one Share. Unless otherwise specified in an invitation, the Directors have the discretion 
to settle Plan Awards with a cash equivalent payment.  

Grants of the FY22 award under the EIP were made before Completion of the Offer in exchange for cancelation of existing 
performance rights issued by the Company in respect of FY22.  The key features of the FY22 award under the EIP that are not 
provided for above are outlined in the table below: 
 
Share based payments granted during the current financial year 

Performance rights 
series 

Effective grant date Number granted Grant date fair value 
$ 

Vesting date 

Tranche 1 9/11/2021 80,036 96,043 30/09/2022 

Tranche 2 9/11/2021 80,036 96,043 30/09/2023 

Tranche 3 9/11/2021 80,038 96,046 30/09/2024 

 
Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects on 
non-transferability, performance hurdles, and employment considerations. 
 

Performance rights 
series 

Grant date fair 
value 

Rights life Dividend yield 
$ 

Tranche 1 $1.15 1 Year 4.66% 

Tranche 2 $1.10 2 Years 4.66% 

Tranche 3 $1.05 3 Years 4.66% 
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
Financial risk management objectives 
The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk) and credit risk. 
The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity uses derivative financial 
instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging 
purposes, i.e. not as trading or other speculative instruments. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency forward contracts are used in the normal course of day-to-day business to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign 
exchange. 
 
The maturity, settlement amounts and the average contractual exchange rates of the consolidated entity's outstanding forward 
foreign exchange contracts at the reporting date were as follows: 
 

 
 
 

Sell Australian dollars 
          $’000 

Average exchange rates 
 

 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 
Buy US dollars 

  

Maturity     

0 – 3 months 604 465 0.6904 0.7522 

4 – 6 months - - - - 

 
Buy Euros 

  

Maturity     

0 – 3 months 1,378 1,465 0.6725 0.6362 

4 – 6 months - - - - 

 
Buy Great British Pounds 

  

Maturity     

0 – 3 months 18 83 0.5670 0.5449 

4 – 6 months - - - - 

 
The carrying amount of the consolidated entity's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting 
date were as follows: 

 
 Assets 

$’000 
Liabilities 

$’000 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 

US dollars 93 148 - - 

Euros 187 865 - - 
New Zealand 
dollars 14 - - - 

Total 294 1,013 - - 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming 
references and setting appropriate credit limits. The consolidated entity obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit 
risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any 
provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. 
 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual 
maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position: 
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 

 
2022 
 

1 year or 
less 

Between 1 and 
5 years Over 5 years Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Non-derivatives 
  

Non-interest bearing     

Trade payables 33,652 - - 33,652 

Other payables 6,730 - - 6,730 

Interest bearing – fixed rate    

Lease liability 2,838 8,403 2,607 13,848 

Total non-derivatives 43,220 8,403 2,607 54,230 
 
Derivatives 

    

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts net settled 

- - - - 

Total derivatives - - - - 

 
 

 
2021 1 year or 

less 
Between 1 and 

5 years Over 5 years Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Non-derivatives 
  

Non-interest bearing     

Trade payables 21,652 - - 21,652 

Other payables 6,361 - - 6,361 

 
Interest bearing – fixed 
rate 

    

Lease liability 2,965 9,079 4,366 16,410 

Total non-derivatives 30,978 9,079 4,366 44,423 
 
Derivatives 

    

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts net settled 

- - - - 

Total derivatives - - - - 
 
 
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above.  
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value 

 
 
31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

 
The individuals within the Group who have been determined to be Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’) for the period ended 30 
June 2022 are those people who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Group’s activities, 
either directly or indirectly. The Group’s key management personnel are the Directors of the company. 
 
Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Group is set out below: 
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31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONEL (CONT’D) 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Shor term employee benefits 1,374 1053 

Post employment benefits 65 55 

Long term benefits 16 12 

Share based payments 288 113 

Total remuneration of auditors 1,743 1,233 

 
 
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

There were no related party transactions for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
 
 
33. PARENT ENTITY 

The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent, IPD Group Ltd and has been prepared in 
accordance with Accounting Standards. 

The financial information for the parent entity, IPD Group Ltd has been prepared on the same basis as the financial statements 
except as disclosed below. 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the parent 
entity. Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the 
carrying amount of these investments. 

 
  30 June 

 2022 
$’000 

30 June  
2021 
$’000 

Assets    

Total current assets  78,003 50,241 

Non-current assets  24,749 19,244 

 
Total assets 

  
102,752 

 
69,485 

    

Liabilities    

Current liabilities  39,947 22,854 

Non-current liabilities  9,656 10,938 

 
Total liabilities 

  
49,603 

 
33,792 

    

Equity    

Issued capital  31,488 8,920 

Share based payments reserve  106 113 

Retained earnings  21,555 26,660 

Total equity  53,149 35,693 

 
Summarised statement of profit and loss    

Profit for the year  4,204 4.946 
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or 
negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian 
Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any 
economic stimulus that may be provided.  

Except for the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected 
or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years. 

 

 

35. SHARHOLDERS INFORMATION 

Distribution of shareholders 
 
At 30 August 2022, the distribution of shareholding was as follows: 

Size of shareholding Shares held Percentage 
Number of 

shareholders 
Distribution of 

shareholders 
1 – 1,000 175,324 0.20% 250 31.77% 

1,001 – 5,000 621,410 0.72% 218 27.70% 

5,001 – 10,000 982,517 1.14% 119 15.12% 

10,001 – 100,000 4,549,694 5.27% 157 19.95% 

Over 100,000 79,956,817 92.67% 43 5.46% 

Total 86,285,762 100.00% 787 100.00% 

 
Substantial shareholdings 
The number of shares held by the substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register of substantial shareholders as at 30 
August 2022 were: 

 
Shareholder  Number of 

shares 
% 

Held 
Mohamed Yoosuff and Mary Yoosuff 11,221,666 13.01% 

Geoffrey Bacon and associated interests 11,189,965 12.97% 

Dinshaw Katrak 7,292,931 8.45% 

Keith William Toose & Kirry Elizabeth Toose 7,132,647 8.27% 

Pendal Group Limited 5,803,983 6.73% 
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35. SHARHOLDERS INFORMATION (CONT’D) 

Twenty largest shareholders 
Shareholder  Number of shares % 

Held 
MOHAMED YOOSUFF AND MARY YOOSUFF 11,221,666 13.01% 

GEOFFREY BACON AND ASSOCIATED INTERESTS 11,189,965 12.97% 

DINSHAW KATRAK 7,292,931 8.45% 

KEITH WILLIAM TOOSE & KIRRY ELIZABETH TOOSE 7,127,647 8.26% 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 7,077,074 8.20% 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 6,253,456 7.25% 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 6,138,500 7.11% 

DORIS MARIE ROBINSON 2,724,832 3.16% 

MIRRABOOKA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 2,708,334 3.14% 

DJOKA PTY LTD 2,404,263 2.79% 

AHMAD AMIRI 1,955,431 2.27% 

GARY J MCCREADY & ROZLYN BARBARA MCCREADY 1,602,842 1.86% 

ANDREW MAN-TAT CHAN & KWAN-CHING WONG 1,602,842 1.86% 

BRIAN C RODRICKS & LAURIANA MARY RODRICKS 1,602,842 1.86% 

MICHAEL LINDEN AND LYN LINDEN 1,432,945 1.66% 

MICHAEL SAINSBURY 1,208,257 1.40% 

CHRIS WOODWARD 921,634 1.07% 

CERTANE CT PTY LTD <CHARITABLE FOUNDATION> 625,000 0.72% 

CERTANE CT PTY LTD <BIPETA> 625,000 0.72% 

CONLOG (QLD) PTY LTD 583,959 0.68% 

Total top 20 shareholders 76,304,420 88.43% 
 

Shareholders with less than a marketable parcel 
As at 30 August 2022 there were 16 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of 500 ordinary shares in the company, 
totalling 557 ordinary shares. 

Voting rights 

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 

Ordinary shares 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote. 

There are no other classes of equity securities. 
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36. COMPANY INFORMATION 

Directors  David Rafter, Chairman, Non-executive director 

  Andrew Moffat, Non-executive director 

  Michael Sainsbury, CEO 

  Mohamed Yoosuff, CFO 

  
Company secretary  Michael Austin 

  
Notice of annual general meeting  The details of the annual general meeting of IPD Group Limited are: 

  Level 4/ 100 Walker Street 

  North Sydney NSW 2060 

  10 November 2022 

  
Registered office  43-47 Newton Road 

  Wetherill Park NSW 2164 

  Phone: 1300 556 601 

  
Principal place of business   43-47 Newton Road 

   Wetherill Park NSW 2164 

   Phone: 1300 556 601 

  
Share register  Automic Registry Services 

  Level 5, 126 Phillip Street 

  Sydney, NSW 2000 

  Phone: (02) 9698 5414 

  
Auditor  PKF 

  Level 8, 1 O’Çonnell Street 

  Sydney NSW 2000 

  
Stock exchange listing  IPD Group Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange  

(ASX code: IPG) 

  

Website www.ipdgroup.com.au 

 
 

  




